2010

# Kim Dahl v. Brian C. Harrison, an individual; and Brian C. Harrison, P.C., a Utah professional corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

**Issue I.** Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Ms. Dahl's motion to extend the deadline for designation of expert witnesses and for the submission of initial expert witness reports and whether the trial court erred by striking Ms. Dahl's expert witness reports without leave to amend, even though trial had not been set.

Standard of review. "Trial courts have broad discretion in managing the cases assigned to their courts." *Welsh v. Hospital Corp. of Utah*, 2010 UT App 171, ¶ 9, 235 P.3d 791 (quoting *Posner v. Equity Title Ins. Agency, Inc.*, 2009 UT App 347, ¶ 23, 222 P.3d 775). As part of that discretion, rule 16 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allows the trial court to set dates for the completion of discovery and expert discovery. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 16(b)(3) and Utah R. Civ. P. 26. Rule 16 also authorizes the trial court to impose the sanctions listed in Rule 37(b)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure if the party fails to obey a scheduling or pretrial order. Utah R. Civ. P. 16(d). Under Rule 37, excluding evidence is one of the sanctions that may be imposed on a party who violates Rule 16. However, before the trial court can impose discovery sanctions under Rule 37, the court must find on the part of the noncomplying party "willfulness, bad faith . . . fault, or persistent dilatory tactics frustrating the judicial process." *Welsh*, 2010 UT App 171, ¶ 9 (citing *Morton v. Continental Baking Co.*, 938 P.2d 271, 274 (Utah 1997)). Once that

finding is made, the choice of an appropriate discovery sanction is primarily the responsibility of the trial judge. Appellate courts will only disturb a discovery sanction if abuse is clearly shown. *Id.* (quoting *Kilpatrick v. Bullough Abatement, Inc.*, 2008 UT 82, ¶ 23, 199 P.3d 957).

Supporting Authority. Rule 16 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, *Welsh v. Hospital Corp. of Utah*, 2010 UT App 171, ¶ 9, 235 P.3d 791; *Posner v. Equity Title Ins. Agency, Inc.*, 2009 UT App 347, ¶ 23, 222 P.3d 775; *Kilpatrick v. Bullough Abatement Inc.*, 2008 UT 82, 199 P.3d 957; *Boice v. Marble*, 1999 UT 71, 982 P.2d 565; *Normandeau v. Hanson Equip., Inc.*, 2007 UT App 382, 174 P.3d 1; *Preston & Chambers, P.C. v. Koller*, 943 P.2d 260 (Utah Ct. App. 1997); *Debry v. Cascade Enters.*, 879 P.2d 1353, 1361 (Utah 1994); *Berrett v. Denver & Rio Grande W. R.R.*, 830 P.2d 291, 293 (Utah Ct. App. 1992); *Utah Dept. of Transp. v. Osguthorpe*, 892 P.2d 4, 8 (Utah 1995).

Statement of Preservation. The issue regarding the Motion to Strike Expert Witnesses and Motion for leave to amend is preserved on the Record at 607, 769, and 1742 18-31.

Issue II. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying Ms. Dahl's Motion to Extend Factual Discovery which was filed almost eighteen months prior to trial and a full year before the pretrial conference in which a trial date was calendared.

Standard of review. Trial courts have broad discretion in managing the cases assigned to their courts." *Welsh v. Hospital Corp. of Utah*, 2010 UT App 171, ¶ 9, 235 P.3d 791; *Butterfield v. Okubo*, 790 P.2d 94 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). As part of that

discretion, rule 16 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allows the trial court to set dates for the completion of discovery. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 16(b)(3).

Supporting Authority. Rule 16, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; Rule 26, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; *Welsh*, 2010 UT App 171; *Posner v. Equity Title Ins. Agency, Inc.*, 2009 UT App 347, ¶ 23, 222 P.3d 775.

Statement of Preservation. The issue of extending fact discovery is preserved on the Record at 393, 395, and 554.

Issue III. Whether the trial court improperly awarded attorney fees as a sanction against Ms. Dahl for filing a motion to extend the deadline for the designation of experts and for the submission of initial expert reports.

Standard of review. Appellate courts give no deference to the trial court's determination as to whether attorney fees. *Fisher v. Fisher*, 2009 UT App 305, ¶ 8, 221 P.3d 845. However, "[w]hether a claim was brought in bad faith is a question of fact that appellate courts review under a clearly erroneous standard. *Edwards v. Powder Mountain Water and Sewer*, 2009 UT App 185, ¶ 13, 214 P.3d 120; *see also Still Standing Stable, LLC v. Allen*, 2005 UT 46, ¶ 8, 122 P.3d 556. The trial court's determination that an action lacks merit, however, is a question of law that this court reviews for correctness. *Edwards*, 2009 UT App 185, ¶ 13; *Pennington v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 973 P.2d 932, 939 n. 3 (Utah 1998). To the extent the trial court awarded attorney fees pursuant to its equitable powers, the appropriate standard for reviewing equitable awards of attorney fees is abuse of discretion. *Fisher*, 2009 UT App 305, ¶ 8; *Hughes v. Cafferty*, 2004 UT 22, ¶ 20, 89 P.3d 148.

Supporting Authority. UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-5-825; *Doctor's Co. v. Drezga*, 2009 UT 60, 218 P.3d 598; *In re Olympus Constr., L.C.*, 2009 UT 29, ¶ 8, 215 P.3d 129; *Edwards v. Powder Mountain Water and Sewer*, 2009 UT App 185; 214 P.3d 120.

Statement of Preservation. The issue of improper award of attorneys fees under Utah Code Ann. § 78B-5-825 is preserved on the Record at 947, 1057 and 1741 29-39.

## **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS**

### **UTAH CODE ANN.**

78B-5-825. Attorney fees -- Award where action or defense in bad faith -- Exceptions.

(1) In civil actions, the court shall award reasonable attorney fees to a prevailing party if the court determines that the action or defense to the action was without merit and not brought or asserted in good faith, except under Subsection (2).

(2) The court, in its discretion, may award no fees or limited fees against a party under Subsection (1), but only if the court:

(a) finds the party has filed an affidavit of impecuniosity in the action before the court; or

(b) the court enters in the record the reason for not awarding fees under the provisions of Subsection (1)

### **Utah Rules of Civil Procedure**

#### **Rule 11**

Reproduced verbatim in the addendum.

#### **Rule 16(b)(3)**

Scheduling and management conference and orders. In any action, in addition to any other pretrial conferences that may be scheduled, the court, upon its own motion or upon the motion of a party, may conduct a scheduling and management conference. The attorneys and unrepresented parties shall appear at the scheduling and management conference in person or by remote electronic means. Regardless whether a scheduling and management conference is held, on motion of a party the court shall enter a scheduling order that governs the time:

...

to complete discovery.

#### **Rule 16(d)**

Sanctions. If a party or a party's attorney fails to obey a scheduling or pretrial order, if no appearance is made on behalf of a party at a scheduling or pretrial conference, if a party or a party's attorney is substantially unprepared to participate in the conference, or if a party or a party's attorney fails to participate in good faith, the court, upon motion or its own initiative, may take any action authorized by Rule 37(b)(2).

#### Rule 26(b)(2)

Discovery scope and limits. Unless otherwise limited by order of the court in accordance with these rules, the scope of discovery is as follows:

...

A party need not provide discovery of electronically stored information from sources that the party identifies as not reasonably accessible because of undue burden or cost. The party shall expressly make any claim that the source is not reasonably accessible, describing the source, the nature and extent of the burden, the nature of the information not provided, and any other information that will enable other parties to assess the claim. On motion to compel discovery or for a protective order, the party from whom discovery is sought must show that the information is not reasonably accessible because of undue burden or cost. If that showing is made, the court may order discovery from such sources if the requesting party shows good cause, considering the limitations of subsection (b)(3). The court may specify conditions for the discovery.

#### Rule 37(b)(2)

Sanctions by court in which action is pending. If a party fails to obey an order entered under Rule 16(b) or if a party or an officer, director, or managing agent of a party or a person designated under Rule 30(b)(6) or 31(a) to testify on behalf of a party fails to obey an order to provide or permit discovery, including an order made under Subdivision (a) of this rule or Rule 35, , unless the court finds that the failure was substantially justified, the court in which the action is pending may take such action in regard to the failure as are just, including the following:

- (b)(2)(A) deem the matter or any other designated facts to be established for the purposes of the action in accordance with the claim of the party obtaining the order;
- (b)(2)(B) prohibit the disobedient party from supporting or opposing designated claims or defenses or from introducing designated matters in evidence;
- (b)(2)(C) strike pleadings or parts thereof, stay further proceedings until the order is obeyed, dismiss the action or proceeding or any part thereof, or render judgment by default against the disobedient party;
- (b)(2)(D) order the party or the attorney to pay the reasonable expenses, including attorney fees, caused by the failure;
- (b)(2)(E) treat the failure to obey an order, other than an order to submit to a physical or mental examination, as contempt of court; and
- (b)(2)(F) instruct the jury regarding an adverse inference.

#### Rule 37(f)

Failure to disclose. If a party fails to disclose a witness, document or other material as required by Rule 26(a) or Rule 26(e)(1), or to amend a prior response to discovery as required by Rule 26(e)(2), that party shall not be permitted to use the witness, document or other material at any hearing unless the failure to disclose is harmless or the party shows good cause for the failure to disclose. In addition to or in lieu of this sanction, the court on motion may take any action authorized by Subdivision (b)(2).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On October 24, 2006, Ms. Dahl was served simultaneously with the divorce complaint and an ex parte temporary restraining order (TRO) that had already been entered in favor of her husband, Charles Dahl. On October 27, 2006, Ms. Dahl retained Brian Harrison as an attorney to represent her in the divorce matter. The representation of Kim Dahl by Brian Harrison in that divorce action was the issue below in this legal malpractice case.

The hearing on whether to grant the TRO was set for November 2, 2006. Prior to the hearing Mr. Harrison informed Ms. Dahl that there was insufficient time to prepare for the hearing and as a result, he wanted to seek a continuance of two weeks. She told Mr. Harrison she would defer to his recommendation. Mr. Harrison then informed Ms. Dahl that she need not appear at the divorce hearing set for November 2, 2006.

It was undisputed that Mr. Harrison, outside of Ms. Dahl's presence and without informing Ms. Dahl ahead of time of proposed terms of the stipulation, entered into a stipulation at the November 2, 2006 hearing. The terms of the stipulation provided for the adoption of the restrictions in the TRO for an indefinite time, including the temporary surrender of custody, even though she had been a stay at home mother all of the children's lives and even though there was no finding of abuse or neglect. In

addition, Mr. Harrison stipulated to additional restrictions that were not briefed and were not before the court on that day. The additional restrictions included that Ms. Dahl would vacate the marital home which she had sole possession of at that time so that Mr. Dahl be awarded immediate use of the home and that Ms. Dahl be required to submit to supervised visitation, the supervisor being Mr. Dahl's brother.

Ms. Dahl was removed from the marital home later on November 2, 2006 and not permitted to return. Ms. Dahl hired Rodney Parker to replace Mr. Harrison a short time after November 2, 2006. At a later hearing before Judge Taylor to request an evidentiary hearing on the matter of temporary custody, Judge Taylor concluded among other things that the custody order was in place as a result of the stipulation of the parties. He denied the request for an evidentiary hearing. The stipulation caused Ms. Dahl and her children significant suffering and displaced Ms. Dahl from stable housing, causing her significant economic injury.

On October 11, 2007, Ms. Dahl filed a complaint against Mr. Harrison alleging breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, and negligence. On November 21, 2007, after agreeing to a scheduling order, Mr. Harrison filed a motion to disqualify Ms. Dahl's counsel which was resolved by stipulation on February 6, 2008. On January 4, 2008, the court signed a stipulated scheduling order that closed fact discovery on April 7, 2008. The order set a deadline of May 5, 2008, for Ms. Dahl to disclose any expert witnesses. Trial was not scheduled at this time. On April 28, 2008, Mr. Harrison submitted a Motion for Summary Judgment, which was later denied. On May 12, 2008, Ms. Dahl filed motions with the trial court seeking amendment of the scheduling order. The court

held oral argument on the motions to extend discovery on August 7, 2008. The court denied Ms. Dahl's request to reopen fact discovery. The court extended expert discovery until September 8, 2008 for Ms. Dahl to submit her expert disclosures and reports.

Ms. Dahl submitted her expert disclosures on September 8, 2008 for two legal experts, Clark Nielsen and Martin Olsen. Mr. Harrison moved to strike the disclosures pursuant to rule 37(f) because the expert reports did not include adequate description of the experts' opinions. Ms. Dahl opposed the motion to strike on the grounds that a discovery sanction was inappropriate where there had been no attempt by Mr. Harrison to meet and confer, and where there was no showing of prejudice, willfulness or bad faith. Trial had not been scheduled at this point.

On December 16, 2008, the court held oral argument on the motion to strike. At that hearing Ms Dahl's counsel orally requested that the court receive an amended expert report from Martin Olsen and asked alternatively for the court to consider a motion to extend time to prepare further detailed disclosures and reports. The court declined to receive the amended report and "strongly hinted" that it would not grant a motion to extend expert discovery if it were filed.

On, January 23, 2009, Ms. Dahl filed her second motion for extension of time to file amended expert disclosures and reports, or alternatively, to allow her designated experts to testify at trial. As of the date of that motion, trial had not yet been set. Ms. Dahl argued in support of her affirmative motion for an extension of time and that no prejudice would result as a trial date had yet to be set. The Court denied this motion, and

awarded costs and fees to Mr. Harrison on the basis that the motion was frivolous. The court set trial for the first time at a pretrial conference on June 30, 2009.

At the pretrial conference, the court also bifurcated the trial so that issues of liability would be tried separately from the issue of causation and damages. A two day bench trial was held on October 26 and 27, 2009, limited solely to the issues of liability. Following the presentation of evidence, the Court found in favor of Mr. Harrison on each of Ms. Dahl's causes of action and dismissed the case. The Court entered its conclusions of law and order of dismissal on June 1, 2010 and a final judgment of court costs on June 21, 2010.

#### **STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS**

1. On October 24, 2006, Plaintiff Kim Dahl's husband, Charles Dahl, filed a Petition for Divorce in the Fourth Judicial District under case number 064402232.

(Record at 11.)

2. Along with the Petition for Divorce, Mr. Dahl filed a Motion for an Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order limiting Ms. Dahl's contact with her children. (*Id.*)

3. On October 24, 2006, Ms. Dahl was served with a Complaint for Divorce and the Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order ("TRO"). (Record at 10.)

4. At the time she was served, Ms. Dahl had no notice or inclination that Mr. Dahl had been planning to file for divorce. (*Id.*)

5. Prior to the date she was served with the TRO, Ms. Dahl had never been reported by anyone for abusing or neglecting her children, or for giving them medication

not prescribed by their physician and father, Charles Dahl, or by any other licensed physician. (Record at 9.)

6. Based upon the unsubstantiated allegations in the affidavits of Charles Dahl and Rosemond Blakelock, Mr. Dahl's attorney, representing that permanent and irreparable harm may come to the children if the TRO did not issue, the District Court entered an Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order without notice to Ms. Dahl. (*Id.*)

7. The Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order prohibited Ms. Dahl from removing the children from the temporary care, custody, and control of the Mr. Dahl, or removing either child from his or her school. (*Id.*)

8. The Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order did not order Ms. Dahl to leave the marital home. (Record at 9.)

9. The District Court scheduled an Order to Show Cause on November 2, 2006 before Commissioner Patton to review the TRO. That hearing was Ms. Dahl's first opportunity to be heard on the court's restraining order. (Record at 10.)

10. After being served with the Complaint and the Temporary Restraining Order, Ms. Dahl went to attorney Brian Harrison of Brian C. Harrison, P.C. to discuss the papers which had been served upon her. (Record at 9.)

11. After reviewing the documents, Mr. Harrison told Ms. Dahl that he would represent her, but that she needed to deposit a \$5,000 retainer with Brian C. Harrison, P.C. (*Id.*)

12. Ms. Dahl promptly secured the funds for the retainer and delivered them to Mr. Harrison. (*Id.*)

13. Between the retainer payment and the other money Ms. Dahl was able to secure, Ms. Dahl deposited \$12,146.05 with Brian C. Harrison, P.C. (Record at 8.)

14. During one of the initial consultations, Mr. Harrison counseled Ms. Dahl to sign up for parenting classes. (*Id.*)

15. Mrs. Dahl took the advice of Mr. Harrison and signed up for the classes. (*Id.*)

16. Of utmost concern to Ms. Dahl was the hearing scheduled for November 2, 2006. (*Id.*)

17. When Ms. Dahl discussed the hearing with Mr. Harrison, he told her that he could not be ready for the hearing on November 2, 2006 and that it would be continued. (*Id.*)

18. Mr. Harrison informed Ms. Dahl that because the November 2, 2006 hearing would be continued, she would not need to appear. (*Id.*)

19. Despite Mr. Harrison's representation to Ms. Dahl that she did not need to attend the hearing on November 2, 2006, Mr. Harrison entered into a stipulation on Ms. Dahl's behalf. Mr. Harrison did so without any further attempt to contact Ms. Dahl before or during the hearing, without Ms. Dahl's knowledge or consent, and outside of her presence. The stipulation that Mr. Harrison agreed to on Ms. Dahl's behalf adopted the restrictions in the TRO pending a new hearing. The stipulation further adopted additional restrictions including removing Ms. Dahl from the marital home and restricting her parent time with the children to supervised visitation, the supervisor being Mr. Dahl's brother. (*Id.*)

20. On November 7, 2006, the District Court Commissioner and Judge signed an Order consistent with the terms of the stipulation. (*Id.*)

21. After Mr. Harrison entered into a stipulation extending the TRO, removing Ms. Dahl from the marital home and restricting her parent time with the children to supervised visitation, Ms. Dahl retained Rodney Parker to represent her in the divorce action. (Record at 7.)

22. Mr. Harrison sent portions of Ms. Dahl's file, including privileged information, to the martial home, even though he knew that Ms. Dahl did not reside there and that she was then represented by Rodney Parker. (*Id.*)

23. On or about November 9, 2006, Mr. Harrison sent a final bill to Ms. Dahl stating that he had worked on her case for 27 hours between the dates of October 26, 2006 through November 9, 2006. (*Id.*)

24. Ms. Dahl filed the current action on October 11, 2007, alleging breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, and negligence. (Record at 12.)

25. Mr. Harrison filed his Answer and Affirmative Defenses on November 1, 2007. (Record at 24.)

26. After agreeing to a scheduling order, Mr. Harrison filed a Motion to Disqualify Ms. Dahl's counsel on November 21, 2007. (Record at 30.) On January 4, 2008, the court signed a stipulated scheduling order that closed fact discovery on April 7, 2008. (Record at 144.) The order set a deadline of May 5, 2008, for Ms. Dahl to disclose any experts. (*Id.*) Trial was not scheduled at this time.

27. On January 8, 2008, oral argument was set for the motion to disqualify to occur on March 14, 2008. (Record at 147). This motion was later withdrawn on February 6, 2008 by stipulation of the parties.

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