2010

# Kim Dahl v. Brian C. Harrison : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Here, Dahl's expert "reports" were so deficient that they realistically amounted to no disclosure at all. She merely gave names and extremely vague and generalized topics upon which the expert *may* opine. She cited nothing that any expert actually reviewed to form the basis of his or her opinion; instead, Dahl merely stated that the expert's opinion "will be based" on essentially everything in the case. As a corollary, the "reports" failed to state any link between fact and conclusion. *Cf. Bowie Mem'l Hosp.*, 79 S.W.3d at 52 (expert must identify link between fact and conclusion in report). The "reports" also failed to state qualifications of any of the experts with any meaningful specificity. This is far from stating a response to the standard expert interrogatories that a Rule 26(a)(3)(B) report is intended to replace. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 26, Advisory Notes.

In short, nothing in the expert "reports" was even remotely informative of opinions of an "expert," bases of any opinion, or qualifications of an "expert" to render any such opinion. Dahl was required to disclose a presently-held opinion of an expert with sufficient detail to substitute for responding to standard interrogatories, not one is vague, void of substance, nor one that is hypothetical in that it may arise after a future review of relevant materials. Thus, the trial court properly found that the "reports" did not comply with Rule 26(a)(3)(B).

2. The Trial Court did not Abuse its Discretion in Enforcing the Plain Language of Rule 37(f) and Refusing to Relieve Dahl of the Consequences of Her Non-Compliant Disclosures.

At the outset, it is important to note that the trial court did not impose a sanction upon Dahl in striking her expert reports and not allowing her to present expert testimony at trial. The issue before the trial court was exclusion under Utah R. Civ. P. 37(f). **Rule**

*37(f) is self-executing.* Because the trial court ruled that Dahl did not comply with Rule 26(a)(3)(B), the trial court ruled that those reports were automatically excluded pursuant to Rule 37(f). It did not, as Dahl argues, “choose an inappropriate sanction.” By operation of Rule 37(f), the trial court had no choice.

Rule 37(f) is crystal clear that improper disclosures *automatically* lead to exclusion, and the burden is on the improperly-disclosing party to show harmlessness or good cause to escape exclusion. The trial court specifically ruled that Dahl had shown neither, and thus she was not saved from Rule 37(f)’s automatic exclusion. The trial court was well within its broad discretion to determine that Dahl had not shown the required harmlessness or good cause; indeed, Dahl does not marshal any evidence to suggest that she made such a showing, nor does she argue that the trial court should have found her excepted from Rule 37(f). *See Rohan*, 2002 UT App 109, ¶ 35 (party challenging trial court’s finding must marshal evidence supporting a finding).

Additionally, Dahl’s heavy reliance on *Dugan v. Jones*, 615 P.2d 1239 (Utah 1980) is misplaced for at least three reasons. First, *Dugan* was decided before the 1999 overhaul to the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which added the self-executing exclusion of Rule 37(f) that is at issue here. *See Utah R. Civ. P. 26, Advisory Notes* (discussing interplay of Rules 26 and 37 in the then-new rules); *Arnold*, 846 P.2d at 1309-10 (specifically distinguishing *Dugan* on the basis that it was decided under old civil procedure rules). Under the current Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, unlike in the 1970s when *Dugan* was first filed, exclusion is automatic and the burden is on the improperly-disclosing party to show harmlessness or good cause. *Dugan* goes through no

harmlessness or good cause analysis because that rule did not exist. Second, the *Dugan* court's overarching concern was that the trial court's pretrial order, made 11 months before trial, was not reduced to writing, *Dugan*, 615 P.2d at 1244-45, a situation not present here. Third, *Dugan* did not deal with improperly-disclosed expert reports but the failure to produce a pretrial expert witness list 15 days before trial. *Dugan* did not discuss disclosures of expert opinions, nor expert discovery at all. *See id.*

Moreover, while no finding of willfulness or bad faith is required under Rule 37(f), the trial court did find that Dahl had willfully disobeyed orders of the court with respect to expert disclosures. (Statement of Material Facts, *supra*, ¶ 14 (citing Transcript of December 16, 2008 Hearing 31:13-16).) Dahl has failed to marshal any evidence to suggest otherwise. Simply put, Dahl gave the trial court no reason to relieve her from Rule 37(f)'s automatic exclusion, and the trial court was not required to do so. Actually, it would have been abuse of discretion for the trial court to allow expert testimony at trial without the clear prerequisite of a Rule 26-compliant report or a finding of harmlessness or good cause as to why one was not produced. *See Jacobsen*, 287 F.3d at 953.

3. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Denying the Motion to Allow Expert Testimony At Trial.

In connection with her opposition to the trial court's ruling on December 16, 2008, concerning her deficient expert reports, Dahl, both in her briefing and at oral argument requested more time to prepare complete reports. (*See, e.g.*, R. 600-607; Transcript of December 16, 2008 Hearing 18:11-13.) The trial court specifically addressed Dahl's

request for more time and rejected it. (Transcript of December 16, 2008 Hearing 29:23 - 31:6.) At the end of rejecting Dahl's request for more time, the trial court stated:

I find that there is a willful failure on the plaintiff to carry this case forward and to obey the orders of the court with the court having given plaintiff more time over the objection of the defendant.

(Transcript of December 16, 2008 Hearing 31:13-16.)

Less than six weeks after the trial court so sharply rejected her request for more time to disclose experts, Dahl filed a "Motion to Allow Expert Testimony at Trial." That motion cited nothing new—no new evidence, argument, or anything else—that had come up since December 16, 2008. Notably, much of the text of her memorandum was generic and was copied and pasted verbatim from her prior motions requesting more discovery. Dahl was just asking for more time, again, and citing no supportable basis, again. (*See* R. 961-62, 980-83.)

For the same reasons as the trial court was within its discretion to refuse to relieve Dahl from Rule 37(f)'s automatic exclusion concerning her incomplete expert reports and untimely request for extension, the trial court was within its discretion to deny the same requested relief when it was presented less than six weeks later.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> The trial court found the Motion to Allow Expert Testimony at Trial frivolous and Dahl was sanctioned. She appeals the sanction as well, which is discussed *infra* at Argument, Section III.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DAHL'S MOTION TO EXTEND FACT DISCOVERY NOR IN GRANTING HARRISON'S MOTION FOR A PROTECTIVE ORDER.**

**A. The Trial Court was Within its Discretion to Deny an Extension of Fact Discovery.**

The trial court's refusal to extend fact discovery is another plain-vanilla discretionary ruling that it was clearly permitted to make. The deadline had passed by five weeks by the time Dahl filed her motion to extend it, and she had taken no discovery during the discovery period. As she did at the trial court, Dahl's appellate brief cites only generic authority that "discovery is broad" and is intended to "elicit facts" and the like in support of her assertion that the trial court abused its discretion in denying her untimely motion to extend fact discovery. She cites no authority, and Harrison is aware of none, stating that a trial court abuses its discretion when it denies more time for discovery for a dilatory party that files an untimely motion.

Dahl also advances the argument that was rejected by the trial court that Harrison's motion to disqualify her counsel affected her ability to take discovery. It did not. She could have initiated discovery while the motion was pending. Harrison did. She *chose* not to. She could have requested a stay pending the determination of the motion. She could have initiated discovery in the two months between February 6, 2008, when the motion to disqualify was resolved by stipulation, (*see* R. 152), and April 7, 2008, the fact discovery cutoff. She could have moved for an extension of discovery during those two months. She did none of these things, and the trial court properly

refused to reward her for it. Neither the motion to disqualify, nor anything else, warranted extension of the fact discovery period.

**B. The Trial Court was Within its Discretion to Grant Harrison's Motion for a Protective Order.**

The first time Dahl attempted any discovery in this case was when she served written discovery requests on the date of the fact discovery cutoff. While the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure are silent on whether such discovery is timely, courts from other jurisdictions have repeatedly held that they are untimely because they must have been served so that responses were due before discovery is complete. *See Erbe Elektromedizin GmbH v. Canady*, 2006 WL 3387176, at \*1 (W.D. Pa. November 21, 2006) (finding that “all discovery initiatives shall be served within sufficient time to allow responses to be completed prior to the close of discovery. Based upon the same, I find Plaintiffs' discovery initiatives served on the last day of discovery to be untimely, such that Defendants are not required to respond to the same.”); *Chevola v. Celco Partnership*, 2007 WL 3379779, at \* 1 (M.D. Fla. November 14, 2007) (“[T]he completion date for discovery means just that—all discovery must be completed by that date. Hence, interrogatories, as an example, must be served more than thirty days prior to the completion date to permit the opposing party to respond before the discovery deadline.”); *Jim Boast Dodge, Inc. v. Daimler Chrysler Motors Co., LLC*, 2007 WL 4409781, at \*1 (M.D. Fla. January 16, 2007) (same); *Brodeur v. McNamee*, 2005 WL 1774033, at \*2-3 (N.D.N.Y. July 27, 2005) (same); *Epling v. UCB Films, Inc.*, 2001 WL 584355 (D. Kan. April 2, 2001) (same).



Harrison submits that this issue comes up so frequently in civil litigation that, as a matter of policy, this Court should include in a published opinion for this case that the trial court was affirmatively correct in determining that discovery requests are untimely unless served so that responses were due before discovery is complete. The completion of fact discovery is the most important discovery deadline. It is critical to other deadlines in the case. Experts rely on facts elicited in fact discovery, which is supposed to be a “closed universe” after the fact discovery deadline. Rule 26’s presumptive case management deadline for expert disclosures is 30 days after the close of fact discovery. Utah R. Civ. P. 26 (a)(3)(C). Serving discovery requests on the last day of fact discovery means that the responses (which presumably contain new facts) would be due contemporaneously with expert reports, inviting unnecessary delay and burden upon the litigants, their experts, and the trial courts. Clear and binding authority in this regard would benefit the State of Utah’s litigants and judiciary.

Regardless of whether this Court expressly ratifies the trial court’s decision, the trial court was within its discretion to interpret the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure in conformity with the above-cited authorities from other jurisdictions and grant Harrison’s motion for a protective order. Holding that the trial court abused its discretion in granting the protective order would only reward dilatory litigants and counsel, and it would give obstreperous litigants and counsel a way to delay trial court proceedings by waiting to serve discovery requests until the final day of fact discovery so that expert discovery would inevitably be disrupted. Obviously, this is contrary to the policy and goals of this State.

### **III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SANCTIONING DAHL FOR FILING A FRIVOLOUS MOTION.**

As stated above in Argument Section I.B.3, Dahl specifically requested more time for preparation of expert reports, and the trial court specifically and unequivocally rejected that request on December 16, 2008. In doing, the trial court ruled that Dahl had willfully failed to obey orders of the Court. Then, Dahl requested the same relief less than six weeks later, citing no new fact or law.<sup>3</sup> The trial court found that it was in bad faith and awarded costs and attorneys' fees incurred in defending the motion to Harrison.

#### **A. Dahl's Challenge to the Trial Court's Bad Faith Finding Fails Because She Has not Marshaled the Evidence.**

In challenging a trial court's findings of bad faith, a party "is required to marshal the evidence, citing the appellate court to all the evidence supporting the trial court's ruling." *Rohan*, 2002 UT App 109, ¶ 35. Here, Dahl merely disagrees with the trial court and argues that her motion was in good faith. She has made no attempt to comply with the marshalling requirement and thus this Court should conclude that the record supports the finding of bad faith. *See id.*

#### **B. The Trial Court Was Within its Discretion to Sanction Dahl and Christensen Under its Inherent Powers.**

Courts of general jurisdiction, like the district court here, possess "inherent equitable power to award reasonable attorney fees when [ ... ] appropriate in the interest of justice and equity." *Id.* ¶ 34 (affirming sanction of attorneys' fees for frivolous

---

<sup>3</sup> In a footnote of her brief, Dahl states for the first time on appeal that the purpose of the motion was to preserve her right to appeal. Her right was already preserved, and she never stated preservation as a basis for the motion to the trial court in response to Harrison's motion for sanctions.

refilling of motion for continuance that had been denied 17 days earlier). This inherent power includes the “power to impose monetary sanctions on attorneys who by their conduct thwart the court’s scheduling and movement of cases through the court.”

*Barnard v. Wassermann*, 855 P.2d 243, 249 (Utah 1993). Akin to *Rohan* where a sanction was affirmed when a repeat motion was filed within weeks, the trial court was within its discretion to determine that, in the interest of justice and equity, Harrison should be awarded costs and attorney’s fees incurred in connection with responding to this repeat motion, especially since the trial court had already found Dahl and Christensen to have willfully failed to obey orders of the court. The trial court found bad faith on behalf of Dahl and Christensen in connection with the motion—a finding that is clearly supported by the record, (*see* Statement of Material Facts, *supra*, ¶¶ 9-16), and Dahl cannot contest that finding due to her failure to meet the marshalling requirement. *See Rohan*, 2002 UT App 109, ¶ 35.

**C. The Trial Court’s Alternative Basis for Sanctioning Plaintiff—Utah Code Ann. § 78B-5-825—Was not Clearly Erroneous.**

Utah Code Ann. § 78B-5-825 was also a proper alternative basis for an award of attorneys’ fees. While Dahl is correct that that statute uses the word “action,” the court in *Rohan* affirmed an attorneys’ fees award under the same statute, specifically and separately under the statute. *Id.* ¶¶ 38-40 (“We agree with the trial court that Rohan’s renewed motion ... was frivolous and without basis in law or fact. Thus, the first requirement of [the bad faith statute] was met.”). Thus, *Rohan* interprets Utah Code Ann.

§ 78B-5-825 to be broader than just the merits of the ultimate claims and defenses. *See id.*

Dahl also argues that an interpretation of Utah Code Ann. § 78B-5-825 that includes motions would subsume Utah R. Civ. P. 11. Dahl is wrong. Rule 11 applies to counsel, not parties. The purpose of the statute is to have a statutory basis to sanction parties for bad faith and meritless positions. The statute properly supplements Rule 11; together, they allow a trial court to sanction either litigants, their counsel, or both for abuses of the litigation process. They are important tools for the trial courts to police both counsel and litigants.

For those reasons, the trial court was correct in using Utah Code Ann. § 78B-5-825 as an alternative basis for sanctions.

**IV. THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING SHOULD ALSO BE UPHeld  
BECAUSE DAHL FAILED TO PRESENT ANY FACT AT TRIAL  
THAT COULD SUPPORT A FINDING OF CAUSATION ON ANY OF  
HER CLAIMS.**

Finally, while Harrison submits that it is not even a close case that the trial court was within its broad discretion to enter the orders that are the subject of Sections I-III above, even to the extent that there was some error, the error was harmless or the judgment should be affirmed on an independent ground that Dahl failed to present facts at trial to demonstrate causation.

Obviously, Dahl was required to prove a causal connection between some wrongful act by Harrison and an injury she sustained. *See, e.g., Shaw Resources Ltd., L.L.C. v. Pruitt, Gushee & Bachtell, P.C.*, 142 P.3d 560, 569 (Utah Ct. App. 2006)

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